IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAYMOND RIAD KHOURY,

Appellant,

vs.

MARGARET SEASTRAND,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 64702 Supreme Court Case No. 65007 Electronically Filed Nov 13/2014 08:08 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The HONORABLE JERRY WEISE, District Court Judge District Court Case No. A-11-636515-C

APPELLANT RAYMOND RIAD KHOURY'S OPENING BRIEF

STEVEN T. JAFFE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 007035 JACOB S. SMITH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 010231 HALL JAFFE & CLAYTON, LLP 7425 Peak Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89128

Attorneys for Appellant Raymond Riad Khoury

ISSUES PRESENTED

Appellant Raymond Khoury ("Khoury") presents the following issues for review:

- 1. Whether the district court abused its discretion allowing Seastrand's treating physicians to offer opinions previously undisclosed by report, in records, or in deposition, and without authoring an expert report;
- 2. Whether the district court abuse its discretion allowing Seastrand's expert neurosurgeon to offer previously undisclosed opinions exceeding the scope of his professional expertise, training, and qualifications;
- 3. Whether the district court abused its discretion by precluding admission of evidence regarding treatment on a medical lien and/or the sale or purchase of Seastrand's medical liens;
- 4. Whether the district court erred in precluding evidence regarding the amounts actually paid for the Plaintiff's medical treatment;
- 5. Whether the district court abused its discretion when it denied a motion for mistrial following Plaintiff's counsel's use of the term "claim" during opening statement; and, when the court failed to remedy or instruct the jury regarding counsel's use of the word "claim";
- 6. Whether the district court abused its discretion by failing to grant Khoury's motion for mistrial regarding indoctrination of the jury through repeated reference to a specific verdict amount during *voir dire*;
- 7. Whether the district court erred in striking, for cause, numerous prospective jurors who demonstrated a willingness to consider the facts and law and award a fair verdict based upon the evidence;
- 8. Whether the district court abused its discretion in awarding costs in the amount of \$75,015.61;
- 9. Whether the district court erred in denying Khoury's Motion for New Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a jury verdict, an order granting fees and costs, and an order denying a motion for new trial in a motor vehicle negligence action seeking damages for personal injuries. EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT; THE HONORABLE JERRY A. WIESE, District Judge.

Plaintiff/respondent Margaret Seastrand sued defendant/Appellant Raymond Khoury for injuries she claims resulted from a car accident on March 13, 2009. During trial, Khoury never disputed that he caused the accident; instead, he challenged the medical causation and the extent of Seastrand's injuries. After deliberations, the jury awarded Seastrand \$719,770.00.

Khoury moved for a new trial pursuant to NRCP 59(a), claiming that the judge abused his discretion, resulting in an unfair trial for Khoury. The district court further abused its discretion when it denied Khoury's motion for new trial, when the court failed to consider the impropriety of plaintiff's *voir dire*, the prejudicial impact of undisclosed opinions from plaintiff's expert and treating physicians, and harm resulting from the preclusion of evidence pertaining to liens. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the order denying a new trial, remanding this matter for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. THE ACCIDENT.

This case stems a minor rear-end automobile collision allegedly causing injuries to Seastrand. (I-JA-0001-3.) On March 13, 2009, Seastrand drove east on Craig Road approaching the intersection of Rancho Drive in Las Vegas, Nevada, stopping at a red light in the right turn lane. (XIV-JA-2593.) Mr. Khoury stopped behind Seastrand. (XVI-JA-2987.) After completely stopping, Mr. Khoury removed his foot from the brake and began to slowly roll forward. (*Id.* at 2988.)

Realizing that Seastrand's vehicle remained stopped, Khoury attempted to stop, but he bumped into Seastrand's vehicle. (*Id.*)

Seastrand, complaining of neck and back injuries from the low-speed accident, was transported to Mountain View Hospital and released the same day. Plaintiff received extensive treatment to both her neck and back during the ensuing months and years, including numerous MRIs, epidural injections, and other treatments, ultimately culminating in lumbar and cervical surgeries.

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.

1. Discovery and Disclosure of Physicians and Expert Witnesses.

Seastrand filed her Complaint in this matter on March 8, 2011, alleging negligence and negligence per se against Defendant. (I-JA-006-8.) Before trial, Khoury stipulated to liability, leaving for trial the issues of medical causation, proximate cause, and damages. (XVI-JA-2984-5.)

Medical records revealed Seastrand's pre-accident complaints of "numbness and tingling bi-laterally in both arms" and shooting pain down her left arm on October 27, 2008. (V-JA-0826.) A subsequent cervical x-ray demonstrated conditions partially consistent with spinal abnormalities at C5-C6. (*Id.* at 0828.)

Khoury's retained medical experts assessed these findings in their reports, laying the foundation for their causation testimony at trial. Dr. Siegler's report dated July 12, 2012, opines that these symptoms indicate that Seastrand's disc findings pre-existed the subject incident. (II-JA-0184.) Dr. Schifini's report dated August 25, 2012, notes that these pre-accident symptoms indicate that any injury sustained by Seastrand in the accident only temporarily exacerbated her pre-existing condition. (*Id.* at 0193; 0197.)

Seastrand disclosed many of her treating physicians as potential witnesses at trial, including Drs. Muir and Grover. (I-JA-0015-16.) Seastrand's description

about these treating physicians' anticipated testimony lacked required helpful specificity:

"The above medical providers are expected to testify to Plaintiff's injuries, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis, as well as the authenticity of their medical records and bills. Plaintiffs treating physicians are expected to offer testimony regarding the Plaintiffs diagnosis, treatment and prognosis for any and all services rendered as a result of the injuries sustained in the accident."

(I-JA-0016). The witness description neither states intent to offer causation opinions at trial, nor that these physicians would offer opinions addressing reasonableness of other providers' treatment. Seastrand never identified her treating physicians as experts in any expert witness designation. (I-JA-0020-23.)
Both Drs. Muir and Grover never authored expert reports complying with *NRCP* 26, setting forth their opinions or detailing whatever records they reviewed.

Seastrand disclosed Dr. Jeffrey Gross as her expert witness (I-JA-0021.), for these purposes:

"Dr. Gross is a board certified neurosurgeon and is expected to provide expert testimony relating to his review of Plaintiff's medical records, opinions regarding his past medical care and/or treatment, and his opinions regarding her potential need for future care and/or treatment, including the treatment and medical reasonableness of other medical providers. He will also provide opinions regarding the causation of Plaintiffs injuries and the necessity and reasonableness of Plaintiffs past and future medical expenses."

(*Id.*) While this description laid the foundation for Dr. Gross's causation opinions, pertinently, Dr. Gross' expert description neglects to identify his expertise or intention to testify regarding cardiology. (*Id.*)

Dr. Gross issued four expert reports, disclosed throughout discovery and prior to trial (*See generally* XIX-JA-3622-60; XX-JX-3662-98), never expressing causation opinions regarding Seastrand's treatment in October 2008, despite acknowledging her then commensurate complaints of radiating pain into her arms, with accompanying cervical x-rays demonstrating disc space narrowing, osteophytic spurring, and spondylytic encroachment at the C5-C6 level. (XX-JA-3684.) Dr. Gross reached causation opinions in his initial report dated August 7, 2012, without ever reviewing the records from October 2008. (XIX-JA-3623; 3650.)

Khoury's counsel deposed Dr. Gross on March 18, 2013. During his deposition, Dr. Gross never offered either causation opinions regarding the complaints, treatment, and conclusions from October 2008.

2. *Motions in Limine*.

Khoury filed numerous pre-trial motions *in limine*, including motions to admit evidence of medical liens and lien purchases (III-JA-0365-74; IV-JA-0588-97.); to limit damages to amounts actually paid on behalf of Seastrand (III-JA-0546-56.); and, to Limit the Testimony of Plaintiff's Treating Physicians to the opinions in their medical records and depositions. (II-JA-0335-43.) Seastrand filed an Omnibus Motion in Limine, including seeking to allow *voir dire* questions regarding verdict amounts (II-JA-0133-4.), and to allow treating physicians to testify as experts regarding causation and reasonableness of other providers' treatment without authoring expert reports. (*Id.* at 0134-40.)

The court denied Khoury's Motion to Admit Evidence of Liens, ruling that it considered liens as collateral sources. (VI-JA-0967-69 ; 1015-19; *also* XXIV-JA-4733-38.) The court precluded Khoury from asking questions regarding treatment received or provided on a lien. (*Id.*)

The court denied Khoury's Motion to Admit Evidence of Amounts Billed versus Amounts Paid, ruling that if Plaintiff offered a doctor to testify that the amounts billed were reasonable, the Plaintiff could offer the amounts billed. As to the amounts paid, and any write offs due to liens, the court considered such evidence a collateral source and inadmissible. (VI-JA-1019-25; *also* XXIV-JA-4733-38.)

The Court considered Khoury's Motion to Limit Treating Physicians to the Opinions Stated in their Clinical Charts and Depositions, and Seastrand's competing motion, allowing the treating doctors to testify consistent with the contents of their charts. If new testimony arose which a party considered a reasonable inference from the chart or the deposition, the court would consider its admissibility. The court also concluded that doctors could offer previously undisclosed opinions in defense of their treatment. (VI-JA-0956-964; 0997-1006; *also* XXIV-JA-4733-38.)

Regarding Seastrand's motion to permit *voir dire* questions regarding verdict amounts, the court ruled that inquiries related to verdict amounts based on specific hypothetical facts would be permitted pursuant to EDCR 7.70. Parties could each propose one verdict number during *voir dire*, provided the party never linked the verdict amount to hypothetical facts. (VI-JA-0949-56; *also* XXIV-JA-4733-38.) The court allowed Seastrand to address jurors' reactions to that number, and the reasons for their reactions, specifically restricting Seastrand from proposing multiple verdict amounts to drive jurors higher. (*Id*.)

3. Jury Voir Dire and Selection.

Trial went from July 15, 2013, through July 26, 2013. (*See* VI-JA-1078—XVII-JA-3420.) *Voir dire* lasted nearly three days. (*See* VI-JA-1078—9JA-1692.) Plaintiff asked questions which inflamed and incensed the jurors, despite

objections, ultimately making one juror cry and causing another juror to denounce Plaintiff's counsel.

Plaintiff's counsel informed the jurors that Seastrand sought a verdict in excess of \$2,000,000.00:

"So I believe in brutally honesty [sic] as well. I'm going to be brutally honest with you folks right now. I'm going to say something that's a little uncomfortable for me to say. My client is suing for in excess of \$2 million, and that's-you know, that's-that's what it is, and I'm putting that out there, I'm just going to be brutally honest about that.

[...]

So who here is a little uncomfortable, even if it's just a little bit, with what just said?"

(VII-JA-1190.) Several prospective jurors expressed initial hesitancy at awarding

\$2,000,000.00, concerned it seemed excessive; however, most prospective jurors

acknowledged that without knowing any facts about the case, they lacked

perspective to consider such a large award. Prospective Jurors 034 and 033,

offered statements on the hypothetical verdict:

"PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: I think it's excessive.

MR. CLOWARD: Mr. Walker, I appreciate it. Tell me why you feel that way.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034 We all pay insurance. Everybody knows in Nevada we pay higher rates than most people in the United States. If your insurance doesn't cover everything that is incurred in an accident, I just feel that it's-it's too excessive. I mean, you can't ask for a golden pot when you haven't really earned it.

MR. CLOWARD: Sure.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 34: If there was a death involved, possibly. But I don't know the case so I really can't say.

MR. CLOWARD: Sure. Mr. Walker, I appreciate that, I really do. And you know, is there anyone else that feels that way, Mrs. Agnor.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 033: Patty Agnor, 033. I think–I agree. I think it's excessive because I'm sure . . . he didn't mean to do this. If it was–if it was a death, maybe it would be a little bit more to pay that kind of money, but he–I'm sure he didn't mean to–to cause the accident."

Numerous jurors expressed similar feelings. Prospective juror no. 001 stated that he agreed that "**without knowing the facts** of \$2 million just for a car accident just seems excessive." (VII-JA-1193.)(emphasis added) Notwithstanding the juror's clear qualification and his concern about the absence of facts, Seastrand's counsel twisted the juror's words and misleadingly phrased a closed-ended question to trick him into overstating the breadth of his concern:

"MR. CLOWARD: Seems excessive. You have a hard time just with the thought of that?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 001: Yes."

(*Id.*) Even jurors who seemed most opposed to awarding as much as \$2,000,000.00 explained their hesitation was because they lacked facts about the case. Upon counsel's further inquiry with prospective juror 034–and over defense counsel's previous EDCR 7.70 objection (VI-JA-952-56.), Seastrand's counsel continued to press the juror for answers to a question impossible to give without more facts:

"PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: I can't even say. It's ... I don't know that it's up to me to award anybody anything. you're asking me something that I don't have. I can't give somebody \$2 million. You're asking me to make that judgment. I don't know. <u>I don't</u> <u>know the facts of the case.</u> I can't tell you what my answer's going to be on Thursday.

[...]

<u>I can't tell you whether I would give that amount or not. I have</u> <u>no idea. I don't know the facts of the case.</u>"

(*Id.* at 1216-17.) (emphasis added) Much like juror 034, juror 033 expressed hesitancy at the thought of awarding \$2,000,000.00, ultimately expressing how she based her hesitancy on the absence of the facts of the case:

"PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 33: I think I would have a hard time awarding 2 million, but I didn't see her stand. I didn't see her walk. I didn't—you know, there was no interaction or anything to see her, how she can function. I don't know."

(*Id.* at 1218.)

Seastrand's counsel subsequently returned to each of the prospective jurors with several leading vague questions, designed to trap the jurors into agreeing that they could not be objective, without any explanation, after gathering their initial impressions about a verdict in excess of \$2,000,000.00. Over defense counsel's continuing objections (*id.* at 1214-15.), the court permitted Seastrand's counsel to ask leading questions to each prospective jurors who expressed hesitance at awarding \$2,000,000.00.

Seastrand's counsel never asked the opinions of the prospective jurors but he told them their own feelings about large verdicts and damages for pain and suffering, couched in his loaded words, seeking validation without clarification. Each of these questions focused on the juror's feelings, not on their willingness to consider the evidence and fairly deliberate. Numerous prospective jurors reiterated that the questions were difficult to answer without knowing facts about the case:

"MR. CLOWARD: Would you agree with me that, you know, just on this specific issue, just the amount that we have talked about, just that specific issue, you would not be a good fit for this particular case on just that specific issue?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: Correct.

MR. CLOWARD: Okay. And you agree that the parties wouldn't start on a fair–or on–not a fair, but at a level field on that specific issue?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: Right.

MR. CLOWARD: And that's because you have these beliefs and these core values, that you're fine to have, but you've had those and you didn't form those today, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: Right.

MR. CLOWARD: And nothing that I say or Mr. Jaffe says . . . is going to change your mind, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 034: I would doubt it. <u>But like was</u> already brought up, we don't know what happened. We don't know any of the situation that has happened."

(*Id.* at 1219-20.) (emphasis added) This same series of leading questions was presented to other prospective jurors, who stated that they felt jurors like him would "make the right decision at the end", before Seastrand's counsel walked him down the path of questions to create the appearance of bias. (*Id.* at 1223, 1229-32.) Khoury's counsel renewed his objection to the entire line of questioning. (*Id.* at 1234-39.) Seastrand's counsel challenged eight prospective jurors for cause. (*Id.* at 1239-40; 1294-1302.)

Khoury's counsel traversed the challenged prospective jurors. In response to open-ended questions, many of the challenged jurors demonstrated a willingness to consider the facts and evidence, follow the law, and deliberate based upon the facts presented to them. (*Id.* at 1304-22.) Likewise, several of the challenged jurors clarified that they were unbiased, unopposed to an award of pain and suffering, never pre-judged the case as frivolous, never predetermined the case to place either party ahead, and remained willing to consider the evidence to award reasonable and fair damages, including pain and suffering damages. (*Id.*)

The court dismissed three jurors for cause. (*Id.* at 1327-30.) Seastrand's counsel followed up with some jurors not dismissed for cause, immediately

challenging one about perceived different responses to Khoury's counsel's

questions. (Id. at 1339.) The juror elucidated that Seastrand's counsel improperly

preyed on emotions and asked questions designed to elicit desired responses, while

Khoury's counsel expressed interest in fact-based responses:

"PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: The way you asked the question was based on feeling. The way [Mr. Jaffe] asked was based on fact.

MR. CLOWARD: Sure.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: And evidence, and proof, and if it sounds like I gave two different answers, I apologize for that. But I . . . answered your question the way you asked the question, and I answered [Mr. Jaffe's] question the way he asked it.

[...]

MR CLOWARD: It's hard to know, isn't it, until you hear the facts? That's the one frustrating part about this is we can't tell you anything about the case. You know, both Mr. Jaffe and I would love to do that. Go ahead.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: Well, if you can't tell us anything about the case, why was the amount of money brought up?

MR CLOWARD: Sure.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: Why was that even said? And I think that's why I'm having trouble now.

MR CLOWARD: How come you're—why do you feel that you're having trouble?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: I feel frustrated right now.

MR CLOWARD: Sure. I know this process is frustrating. I'm sorry about that.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 008: And I feel like I've already answered your questions. I feel like I'm done."

(Id. at 1336-39.) As one juror pointed out the next day (VIII-JA-1450),

Seastrand's counsel's relentless badgering about potential verdict amounts reduced

Juror 008 to tears.

Juror 053, a new prospective juror, agreed with Juror 008, explaining that

the \$2,000,000.00 concept, without any evidence to justify it, was the problem:

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 53: So I agree with her as well, that \$2 million kind of like—it's making us biased, but we don't know what the exact facts are, because it could be completely different when we find out the facts. But I don't think it's fair for us to be biased just because of a number that's thrown out before the actual case is being brought to us.

(*Id.* at 1339.) Seastrand never challenged Juror 53 for cause, despite voicing the same opinion that two challenged jurors expressed.

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