1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2  
3 RAYMOND RIAD KHOURY,  
4 APPELLANT,  
5 VS.  
6 MARGARET SEASTRAND,  
7 RESPONDENT.

Case Nos. 64702  
65007  
65172

(Consolidated) Electronically Filed  
May 28 2015 03:07 p.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

8 Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada,  
9 in and for the County of Clark,  
10 The Honorable Jerry Wiese, District Court Judge,  
11 District Court Case No. A-11-636515-C

12 **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22 Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq.  
23 Nevada State Bar No. 11087  
24 Alison Brasier, Esq.  
25 Nevada State Bar No. 10522

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

20           On voir dire, the defendant wanted to ask prospective jurors the following  
21 question: "If there was evidence that Defendant had a prior felony conviction  
22 involving the use or threat of violence, would you still consider all three  
23 sentencing alternatives?" 112 Nev. at 915, 921 P.2d at 891. This court held the  
24 district court properly ruled that this was an impermissible hypothetical question  
25 in violation of EJDRC 7.70. Because the juror was asked to assume the  
26 existence of specific evidence, the question was an improper attempt to "read  
27 how the potential juror would vote during the penalty phase of the trial." 112  
28 Nev. at 915, 921 P.2d at 892.

          The questions asked on voir dire by Seastrand's counsel took exactly the

1 opposite approach. He scrupulously avoided presenting any specific evidence  
2 that would be presented. *See, e.g., JA, v. VII, p. 1338, ll. 10-13.* ("It's hard to  
3 know, isn't it, until you hear the facts? That's one frustrating part about this is  
4 we can't tell you anything about the case."). In fact, the very point of his inquiry  
5 was to identify jurors who would automatically be reluctant to return a large  
6 verdict, *irrespective* of the evidence and the applicable law that may support  
7 such a verdict. This was an entirely proper attempt to ferret out individuals who  
8 may become advocates for the kind of jury nullification condemned by this court  
9 in *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 174 P.3d 970 (2008). There, the court defined  
10 jury nullification as:

11 [a] jury's knowing and deliberate rejection of the evidence or  
12 refusal to apply the law either because the jury wants to send a  
13 message about some social issue that is larger than the case itself  
or because the result dictated by law is contrary to the jury's sense  
of justice, morality, or fairness.

14 *Id.* at 20, 174 P.3d at 982-83, quoting Black's Law Dictionary 875 (8<sup>th</sup> ed.  
15 2004).

16 In the context of criminal trials, the importance of voir dire in addressing  
17 the problem of jury nullification was eloquently discussed by the Second Circuit  
18 in *United States v. Thomas*, 116 F.3d 606, 616 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1997), explaining:

19 [E]very day in courtrooms across the length and breadth of this  
20 country, jurors are dismissed from the venire "for cause" precisely  
21 because they are unwilling or unable to follow the applicable law.  
22 Indeed, one of the principal purposes of voir dire is to ensure that  
the jurors ultimately selected for service are unbiased and willing  
and able to apply the law as instructed by the court to the evidence  
presented by the parties. [Footnote omitted.]

23 It should not go unnoticed that Khoury's counsel spent a considerable amount  
24 of time ensuring that the prospective jurors agreed to return a verdict of only 4  
25 or 5 figures, if that is the value the evidence revealed. *See, e.g., JA, v. VIII, pp.*  
26 1618-19.

27 ///

28 ///

1           **4. In Any Event, Khoury Can Demonstrate No Prejudice**  
2           **Resulting from the Alleged "Indoctrination," Given the**  
3           **Penurious Amounts the Jury Awarded for General Damages**

4           The doctrine of harmless error is embodied in NRCP 61, which states:

5                 No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence  
6                 and no error or defect in any ruling or order of in anything done or  
7                 omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting  
8                 a new trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying  
9                 or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take  
10                such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial  
11                justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard  
12                any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the  
13                substantial rights of the parties.

14           In keeping with this principle, the court has consistently held that it will not  
15           disturb a judgment on appeal if the claimed error was harmless. *See, e.g.,*  
16           *Barrett v. State*, 105 Nev. 356, 361, 776 P.2d 538, 541 (1989) (since defendant  
17           failed to demonstrate prejudice resulting from statement made by court in  
18           presence of jury, any error in making comment was harmless); *Truckee-Carson*  
19           *Irr. Dist. v. Wyatt*, 84 Nev. 662, 666-67, 448 P.2d 46, 49-50 (1968) (judgment  
20           cannot be reversed by reason of erroneous instruction that violates Art. 6, § 12  
21           and NRS 3.230 unless upon consideration of entire proceedings it shall appear  
22           that such error has resulting in miscarriage of justice because it is probable that  
23           a different result would ensue at a new trial; burden is upon appellant to show  
24           probability of different result).

25           In regard to general damages, the record reveals that Seastrand's counsel  
26           suggested a per diem of \$1,000 for the four years of past damages (JA, v. XVIII,  
27           pp. 3300-01), which translates to a total of about \$1.46 million. As for future  
28           damages, he suggested a per diem of \$100 (*id.* at 3304), erroneously indicating  
29           Seastrand's remaining life expectancy was 31 years. *Id.* at 3268. (It was  
30           actually 32 years. *Id.* at 3233.) For future pain and suffering, this suggestion  
31           would yield an award of \$1,131,500 for 31 years and \$1,168,000 for 32 years.  
32           Either way, this works out to a total award of about \$2.6 million in general  
33           damages.

1. Yet the jury awarded only \$85,013.00 for past general damages and only  
2 \$68,010.00 for futures. JA, v. XVIII, p. 3420B. This is less than 6% of the  
3 requested past general damages and a hair over 6% of the requested future  
4 general damages. In fact, her past general damages equal about one-third of her  
5 past medical expenses. And her future generals equated to less than 60% of her  
6 future medical expenses. This is so, even though Khoury's counsel tacitly  
7 agreed in closing argument that doubling or tripling Seastrand's medical  
8 expenses would be a reasonable means of assessing her general damages.<sup>13</sup>

9 Where, as here, the amount of a jury's award clearly reveals that it was  
10 not "indoctrinated," any error in conducting voir dire on large verdicts is, at  
11 most, harmless. *Atlanta Joint Thrminals v. Knight*, 106 S.E.2d 417 (Ga.App.  
12 1958), is instructive. There, the defendant argued on appeal that the trial court  
13 had erred in allowing plaintiff's counsel to ask prospective jurors whether they  
14 could return a verdict in the amount of \$300,000 if that amount was supported  
15 by the evidence and the law. The court first noted that "prejudice as to the size  
16 of verdicts is as much comprehended under the subject matter of civil actions as  
17 the nature of the cause of action." *Id.* at 424. However, assuming any error  
18 occurred, it was harmless in light of the fact that the jury had returned a verdict  
19 of only about 13% of the requested amount:

20 Accordingly, even if it could be said that the voir dire  
21 questions finally permitted were objectionable, and even if the  
22 instructions of the court were not sufficient as a matter of law to  
23 cure any irregularity therein, it is obvious from the small size of the  
24 verdict compared with the amount sued for that the questions were  
25 not, as a matter of fact, harmful to the complainant. This ground  
26 is without merit.

27 The same reasoning applies here.

---

28 <sup>13</sup>After paring the related past medical costs to \$30,750, Khoury's  
counsel argued: "The pain and suffering, well, you can do what you want. If  
he wants to — if counsel says doubling it or tripling it or whatever, fine." JA,  
v. XVIII, pp. 3372-73.

1 Also helpful is the Seventh Circuit's opinion in *Geehan, supra*. As  
2 previously explained, the court there held that there was no abuse of discretion  
3 in allowing plaintiff's counsel to ask prospective jurors whether they would  
4 "have any hesitancy of returning a verdict commensurate with the injuries you  
5 find she has, even though it might run many thousands of dollars." 382 F.2d at  
6 115. However, the court also noted that "defendant has not attempted to show  
7 any prejudice resulting from the asking of the foregoing question. Defendant  
8 makes no contention that the damages allowed by the jury are excessive." *Id.*  
9 The same is true here. Khoury has not contended, because he clearly cannot  
10 contend, that the general damages awarded by the jury are excessive. If  
11 anything, they are inadequate.

12 **VII. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN**  
13 **GRANTING THE FIVE CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE ABOUT**  
14 **WHICH KHOURY COMPLAINS**

14 **A. Standards of Review**

15 Notably, Khoury includes his contention about the dismissal of five jurors  
16 for cause within his larger argument that the district court erred in failing to grant  
17 a mistrial after Seastrand's counsel impermissibly "indoctrinated" the jury.  
18 AOB, p. 49. Thus, his contention regarding the district court's grant of  
19 Seastrand's challenges for cause is not presented as a separate independent point  
20 and, consequently, Khoury sets forth no separate standard of review.

21 The standard of review was touched upon in *Jitnan v. Oliver*, 127 Nev.  
22 \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 254 P.3d 623, 628 (Adv.Op.No. 35; 07/07/11), where this court  
23 observed:

24 A district court's ruling on a challenge for cause involves  
25 factual determinations, and therefore, the district court enjoys  
26 "broad discretion," as it "is better able to view a prospective  
juror's demeanor than a subsequent reviewing court." *Leonard v.*  
*Slate*, 117 Nev. 53, 67, 17 P.3d 397, 406 (2001).

27 While this language suggests a unitary abuse-of-discretion standard of review of  
28 the district's denial *or* grant of a challenge for cause, it has be persuasively noted

1 that an appellant has a far greater burden in demonstrating error from the *grant*  
2 of a challenge for cause than from a *denial* of such a challenge.

3 This distinction stems from the simple fact that, while a litigant has a right  
4 to exclude a biased individual from the jury, he or she has no right to insist that  
5 any particular competent juror be selected over another competent venire  
6 member. See, e.g., *Tasby v. State*, 111 S.W.3d 178, 182 (Tex.App. 2003)  
7 (“There is no right to have a particular person on the jury; challenges for cause  
8 should be liberally granted.”); *State v. Wilson*, 826 S.W.2d 79, 83 (Mo.App.  
9 1992) (“When selecting jurors it is better to err on the side of caution.”). This  
10 advice to err on the side of caution is consistent with this court’s recent  
11 admonition “that a prospective juror who is anything less than unequivocal about  
12 his or her impartiality should be excused for cause.” *Preciado v. State*, 130  
13 Nev. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 318 P.3d 176, 177 (Adv.Op.No. 6; Feb. 13, 2014).

14 Even many courts that apply an abuse of discretion standard to both the  
15 denial and grant of a challenge for cause, account for the obvious distinction  
16 between the two situations in their harmless error analyses. For example, also  
17 proceeding on the premise that a litigant has no right to insist on the selection of  
18 one qualified prospective juror over another, the Supreme Court of Kentucky has  
19 held that the erroneous grant of a challenge for cause is harmless unless it is  
20 “tantamount to some kind of systematic exclusion, such as race . . .” *Basham*  
21 *v. Commonwealth*, 455 S.W.3d 415, 421 (Ky. 2014).

22 The matter was examined in some depth in *Jones v. State*, 982 S.W.2d  
23 386 (Tex.App. 1998) (en banc). *Jones* was a capital murder case in which the  
24 accused was convicted and sentenced to death. There, a challenge for cause to  
25 a prospective juror was granted on the ground that during voir dire she had  
26 stated she would view accomplice testimony implicating the accused with initial  
27 skepticism. After carefully determining that the grant of the challenge for cause  
28 was erroneous, the court turned its attention to the “next question,” i.e.,

1 "whether the judgment should be reversed because of the error." *Id.* at 390.

2 The court noted that Tex.R.App.Proc. 44.2(b), expressing the harmless  
3 error doctrine, was substantially identical to Fed.R.Crim.Proc. 52(a) and took  
4 guidance from the federal decisions applying the latter rule:

5 It was established early in the federal courts that the  
6 incorrect exclusion of a juror did not require reversal of a  
7 judgment. Chief Justice Story, sitting as a circuit judge, denied a  
8 new trial to a defendant who claims that Quaker jurors had been  
9 excused in error. The Chief Justice reasoned, "Even if a juror had  
10 been set aside by the court, for an insufficient cause, I do not know  
11 that it is a matter of error, if the trial has been by a jury duly sworn  
12 and impaneled, and above all exceptions. Neither the prisoner nor  
13 the government in such a case have suffered an injury." *United*  
14 *States v. Cornell*, 25 F.Cas. 650, 656 (D.R.I.1820) (No. 14,868).

15 The full Court adopted the same reasoning in *Northern*  
16 *Pacific R.R. Co. v. Herbert*, 116 U.S. 642, 6 S.Ct. 590, 29 L.Ed.  
17 755 (1886), in which a juror had been challenged for cause by  
18 Plaintiff Herbert and excused by the trial court. The Supreme  
19 Court held that, even if there was no cause to excuse the juror, the  
20 ruling "did not prejudice the [defendant] company. A competent  
21 and unbiased juror was selected and sworn, and the company had,  
22 therefore, a trial by an impartial jury, which was all it could  
23 demand." 116 U.S. at 646, 6 S.Ct. 590.

24 982 S.W.2d at 392. The court in *Jones* then noted that its research revealed this  
25 rule to be universal among the states that had decided the issue. *Id.*

26 The court then overruled what it viewed as its anomalous and incorrect  
27 holding in *Payton v. State*, 572 S.W.2d 677 (Tex.App. 1978) (*i.e.*, that reversal  
28 on this ground is required if the prosecution exercised all of its peremptory  
29 challenges), summarizing later as follows:

30 By the standards of *stare decisis*, analysis of precedent, and  
31 logic, the holding of *Payton* is unsupportable. It is also contrary to  
32 a policy which we think courts should follow: the liberal granting  
33 of challenges for cause. The venire comprises so many jurors who  
34 are clearly qualified that it is unnecessary to err by denying a  
35 challenge for cause on a close question.

36 *Id.* at 393. This reasoning applies here, as well, and is fully consistent with this  
37 court's holdings in *Preciado* and *Jitnan*.

38 Khoury does not claim that the jurors who replaced those excused for

1 cause were somehow unqualified to serve. Indeed, he did not challenge the  
2 replacements. Rather, his only claim of prejudice is that, "every juror expressing  
3 even a whiff of skepticism in a vacuum about \$2,000,000.00 was stricken,  
4 leaving behind only jurors already predisposed to believe that Seastrand's case  
5 warranted a verdict of a particular value, due to hours of indoctrination." AOB,  
6 p. 50. However, it does not follow that jurors who are open-minded about the  
7 possibility that a claim may be worth \$2 million are necessarily close-minded  
8 about the possibility that it is worth less. In fact, Khoury's allegation of  
9 prejudice is a thinly veiled contention that he was entitled to jurors who were  
10 skeptical of Seastrand's damages claim.

11 One more point. Because Khoury has presented his claim of error  
12 regarding the grant of Seastrand's challenges for cause as a sub-part of his  
13 overall argument that the jury was indoctrinated, it must be reiterated that no  
14 such indoctrination occurred in this case. For this reason, as well, Khoury's  
15 argument about the challenges for cause amounts, at most, to harmless error.

16 **B. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Granting**  
17 **Seastrand's Challenges for Cause as to the Remaining Five of the**  
18 **Prospective Jurors**

19 **1. The Court Has Consistently Held that Prospective Jurors Who**  
20 **Equivocate as to Their Ability to Be Impartial Must Be**  
21 **Excused for Cause**

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